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5. Classification

Ownership of Property
(Ctieck as many boxes as apply)

Category of Property
(Check only one box)

private X
X public - Local

public - State
public - Federal

building(s)
district
site
structure
object

Number of Resources within Property 
(Do not Include previously listed resources m the count.)

Contributing Nonconfributing
10buildings

district
site
structure
object

0 Total1

Name of related multiple property listing
(Enter *N/A" If property is not part of a multiple property listing)

Number of contributing resources previously 
listed in the National Register

N/A None

6. Function or Use
Historic Functions 
(Enter categories from instructions.)

EDUCATION/Schooi

Current Functions
(Enter categories from Instructions)

VACANT/Not in use

7. Description
Architectural Classification 
(Enter categories from instructions.)

LATE 19°* AND 20°* CENTURY REVIVALS/

Colonial Revival

Materials
(Enter categories from insbuctions) 

foundation; CONCRETE

waiis- BRiCK
STONE/cast stone

roof: SYNTHETiCS/rubber

other METAL/iron

Narrative Description
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(Describe the historic and current physical appearance of the property. Explain contributing and noncontributing resources 
if necessary. with a summary paragraph that briefly describes the gerreral characteristics of the property, such as 
its location, setting, size, and significant features)

Summary Paragraph

Constructed in 1915-1916 following the design of architect Harry S. Coombs, the Webster Grammar School is a two and a 
half story Colonial Revival brick building with parapet wall and flat roof, raised foundation, and cast stone trim. The school 
b located in a residential neighborhood of Auburn in Androscoggin County, Maine. The building has two wings that create 
a U-shape mass with a small courtyard at the rear. The building features a symmetrical five part fagade dominated by a 
projecting pavilion containing four, two story. Doric columns and the recessed, main entry The school b set on the north 
side of Hampshire Street with the front fag^e facing roughly southwest. There is a narrow lawn in front of the building, a 
sidewalk parallel to Hampshire Street and a grassy median with large trees. Willow Street, which mns roughly northeast b 
the west boundary of the property and ends at Webster Street which forms the northern boundary of the property. The 
area between the street and building on the west and northern sides of the school are paved. A paved playground is on the 
southeast side of the building. The three sides of the playground not bounded by the building are enclosed with a chain link 
fence.

Narrative Oeecriptfon

The building b a U-shaped brick masonry structure set on an elevated basement capped virith a continuous cast stone 
water table. Al windows have cast stone siHs and either cast stor>e or brick lintels. The continuous entablature consists of 
painted galvanized iron cornice and architrave with brick frieze. The original brick parapet has been increased in height 
with a flush utilitarian brick parapet with large metal louvers plaoed in irregular intenrals around the entire perimeter of the 
building. The EPDM roof b mostly flat. All exterior doors have been replaced with modem flush doors

The front fagade faces southwest and is a five part neo^ssical composition with a five bay center entrance pavilion 
flanked by two classrooms on each side. The center entrance pavilion has four engaged two story Doric columns 
supporting a white painted wooden entablature with Webster Grammar School in metal letters attached to the frieze and a 
nwdfllion cornice above. The three bays between the columns contain arched openings on the first floor and square 
topped windows with cast stone keystones on the second floor The original second floor window sash have been removed 
and most of the opening has been filled in except for a single rectangular casement sash. Two of the three first floor 
arched openings have the original eight-over-twetve square topped double-hung windows set on wooden base paneb, the 
third arched opening is a recessed entrance in the middle bay defined by consoles set into the top comers of the opening. 
All three arches have cast storre relbf panels set into the tympanums, the windows have cast storre keystones and the 
entrance has a cast stone cartouche keystone. The center entrance stairs recede through an opening in the pavilion base 
and lead up to the deeply recessed entry doors. The second and fourth bays of the five-part fogade have a grouping of 
five windows on the first and second floors that are currently filled in with T1-11 arrd casement windows on each end.
Each window bay has three window openings in the oerrter separated from a window on each end by brick. Each grouping 
has a continuous cast stone sill and lintel with Greek key patt^ blocks. The basement level has five b^ of double-hung 
six-ovBr-six wood windows. The end bays of the fogade do not have any windows, but are decorated wHh a large 
recessed brick panel. Within the full height brick panel b a small brick inset with cast stone comer blocks. The blank 
exterior vrall signifies the chalkboard wails on the interior classrooms. The basement bvel has three bays of double-hung 
six-over six wood windows.

The northwest and southeast sides of the building are nearly identicat except for the secondary entrance and rear class 
room wings which project forward from the plane of the building on the northwest elevation, and recess behind the plane of 
the building on the southeast. The northwest elevation b five bays vride. The first, third, and fifth bays are comprised of a 
bank of five windows on the first and second floors and five double-hung windows in the basement similar to the front 
fagade. On thb elevation, all basement windows have been covered with plywood. The second bay is comprised of a 
secondary entrance with Colonial Revival door surrounds, pediment and pair of Doric columns and origirial 18-figM 
transom. The bank of windows above the entry is made of double-hung vinyl replacement windows, the center of which is 
six-over-six flanked by two narrower two-over two sash. The transoms above these windows are fWed in with T1-11. The 
sill and lintel with Greek key pattern blocks are made of cast stone. The fourth bay is comprised of a pair of windows on 
the first and second floors with cast stone lintel and siUs. At each opening, one six-over-six vinyl replacement window b 
extant and the other b filled in with T1 -11. At the basement level is a projecting brick entry secondary to the other 
prominent Colonial Revival entrance.

The southeast elevation b a mirror image of the northwest elevation except that the Colonial Revival style entrance b 
located in the fourth bay. A bay of single windows on all three floors is Inserted between the third and fourth bays. The
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windows on the first and second floors are doubie-ftung six-over-six vinyl replacetnent sasfi and the basement opening 
has been covered with plywood

The rear elevation of the building has original offset (shifted northwest) projecting wings that create a small courtyard 
between them. Each wing has three bays, the first and third of which are blank brick walls with brick inset panels and 
decorative upper brick panel with cast stone comer blocks typical of the front fagade. The center bay of eWh wing is 
comprised of single six-over six double-hung vinyl replacement windows on the first and second floors. The basement 
level of each wing has nine bays of windows all covered with plywood. The recessed portion of the rear elevation has 
three bays. On the first and second floors each bay is comprised of six-over-six double-hung windows flanked by two- 
over-two windows on each side. The first floor windows are the original wood sash. The secorKi floor windows are 
replacement vinyl sash. The basement level has a projecting brick entrance with pressed metal cornice.

Defining the interior plan is the two-story auditorium at the center of the front mass, around which classrooms open off 
long corridors that mimic the *U* shape of the building’s footpnnt. The two main stairs are located on the north and east 
sides of the building between the rear wing and main mass of classrooms and auditorium. Between each classroom are 
bathroonrw and coat rooms or *wardrobes‘ (as labeled on the original architectural drawings), currently filled with lockers. 
The first and second floors are essentially identical in layout vdth classrooms, coat rooms, and toilets around the perimeter 
of the building. The circulation pattern of the basement level is similar to the other floors but connects to a gymnasium in 
each of the rear wings. The boiler room and original coal pocket are located in the basement below the auditorium.

Modem for its time, the school had up-to-date heating, lighting, ventilation, and sanitation systems at the time it was 
constructed. Walls between classrooms and corridors are furred out to contain chases for ductwork and piping providing 
heat, ventilation, and hot and cold water. The structural system is also modem. In addition to the masonry bearing wall 
construction of the classrooms, steel is used to frame the two-story space of the auditorium and the balcony. As stated in 
the 1917 Report of Ow Board of Education, ‘the building is thoroughly up to date, the best of material was used in its 
construction, and the workmanship was of the best [quality].*

The auditorium is oriented northwest to southeast with the stage on the northwest side. The only eidarior wal faces 
northeast with three groupings of three windows on each level looking out into the small courtyard. Double doors open 
into the space from the main corridor and rear of the auditorium and balcony. The ceiling is coffered and acoustical ceiling 
tiles are inserted in the coffers where skylights were originally located. The northeast and southwest walls are divided into 
bays with plaster piasters that conceal structural steel columns. The pilasters align with the coffered ceiling above. The 
stage is framed by two pilasters and a proscenium arch with piaster ar>d composite ornament and piaster scroflwork 
accents. Above the arch is a framed recessed panel with plaster scrollwork ornament at each comer and centered at the 
top. Original stained wooden stairs are located on both sides at the rear of the auditorium to access the balcony. The 
balcony is supported by steel trusses and has the original wooden fixed inclined seating on the southeast and southwest 
sides. The northeast side of the balcony is filled in with walls from floor to ceiling that create practice rooms which were 
added in the 1950s. Some of the original schooihouse pendants are hung from the ceiling around the perimeter of the 
balcony. The roof of the auditorium is supported by a deep truss joist system.

Each classroom typically has a bank of five windows akx>g one exterior wall and chalk boards along the other three walls. 
Each classroom also has a built-in storage cabinet on the furred wall between the corridor and classroom. All floors are 
covered in carpet and ceilings are suspended acoustical ceiling ble. Walls are painted plaster. The modest original interior 
wooden trim, including classroom doors, and stainway railings are all still in place throughout classrooms and corridors.
The predominant door style throughout is a four-panel door with single glass light The wood trim has a combination of 
painted and varnished finishes. A subtle detail throughout the wood trim and plaster wall finish have a bull-r)osed edge at 
the termination into the wall or frame.

The gymnasiums in the basement of the rear wings have painted brick masonry wails with wood bead board wainscot on 
the lower third of the wall. This has a painted finish in one of the gyms and stained finish in the other. The original wood 
floors are still intact

Alterations to the exterior are limited to the removal of classroom windows and replacement of the majority of those 
remainirvg; replacament of the original roof and removal of skylights; removal of low brick wall at main entiy stairs; 
replacement of all exterior doors; and the increase in height of the brick parapet as a result of the new roof installation over 
the original. The exact date of these alterations is unknown but the brick retaining wall and original exterior steps were 
removed from the main entrance prior to 1958. According to original architectural drawings, the exterior stairs at the 
recessed main entry led to a landing and turned ninety degrees in both directions at the plane of the fagade. A low brick 
wM with cast stone coping stood in front of the landing and stairs and was removed in the 1950s. The new roof was built

' 1917 *Report of the Board of Education,' Ctly of Auburn (Maine) Annual Report, 122.
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over the existing and the brick parapet increased in height in 1995. The single change that has had the n>ost impact on 
the historic integrity of the building was the removal and replacement of the majority of original windows. Otherwise, the 
existmg brick masonry, cast stone trim, and wood tnm and columns remain intact and in relatively good or repairable 
condition. The classroom window sash have been removed and the large openings have been filled in exce^ for the 
installation of two single rectangular casement sash. The senrice room, stairway and second floor auditorium windows 
have vinyt reptacement sash

The interior floor plan, including corridors, stairways, 21 classrooms, assembly rooms and service rooms has not been 
signifkantly altered. As originally designed and constructed, each floor had ten classrooms. Each classroom had Its own 
wardrobe. The rooms on either side of the main entrance were the prindpal's office and teacher’s room. On the second 
floor, the area above the main entrance was a library and medical room. The basement level was segregated by gender. 
The southeast side was dedicated to female students and comprised the girls' gymnasium, playroom, locker room, toilets, 
and domestic science room The northwest side of the basement was dedicated to male students and comprised the 
boys’ gymnasium, locker room, playroom, toilets, machine room, and wood working room.

Significant interior alterations did not occur until the 1950s. When a new principal took charge in 1950, some minor 
changes to the buMIng occurred including the conversion of a classroom into a library, the basement coal bin into a 
cafeteria, and the endoeure of the northeast side of the balcony into multiple practice rooms. Originally, the basement 
only had a small lunch room, but sometime in the mid-twentieth century, the school curricuium shifted from two sessions 
with a large break in the middle of the day where students went home for lunch, to a single session where students had 
their lunch at school. The auditorium had always been used for practictng music and the school deemed it necessary to 
provide additional practice rooms for students in a location that would not interfere with other activities.

On the first floor, non-hislortc stud walls finished with gypsum board were added to the classroom southeast of the main 
entrance dividing it into two rooms. The southeast classroom across from the rear of the auditorium was also subdivided 
with late twentieth century stud partitions centered on a multion between two windows. A large opening was cut into the 
wall between the classroom and wardrobe southwest of the new partition wail as well as the wall between the classroom 
and the bathroom southwest of the partition in order to enlarge both new classrooms. The new walls in these two modified 
areas in the south comer of the building have been cut around the original wood trim of the chalkboards and wood base 
leaving the Mslortc trim intact The wardrobe for the classroom in the west comer of the building was modified to receive 
an elevator which projects into the adjacent classroom on the first and second floors. On the secor>d floor, an original 
partition has been removed between the former library and medical room within the center entry pavilion to create a larger 
space. Alterations to the basement are primarily limited to the reconfiguration of the bathrooms and addition of partitions 
in the boys' and girls' playroonrs on the northwest and southeast ends of the building.

Alteratfons to finishes have been limited to carpeting on the floor, infill of classroom transoms, and a dropped acoustical 
ceiling installed throughout The classrooms retain their blackboards, baseboards ar>d built-in storage cabinets. The 
northwest side of the building has sustained significant water damage evident by visible leaks and stripped paint from walls 
and ceilings.
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8. StatWTMNit of Significanco
AppHeaMt National Ragiatar Crttaria
(ttarfe V In one or more bo»s for the criteria qualifying the property 
for National Regittar toting)

A Property is associated with events that have made a sigridtcaitt oonthbution to the broad patterns of our 
history.

B Property is aaaocMad with the three of persons 
significant in our past.

Property embodtea the distinctive characteristics 
of a type, period, or method of construction or 
represents the work of a master, or possesses high 
artistic vakias. or represents a significant 
and diatinguishable entity whose componeryte lack 
individual dtefindian.

1 D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield. Information 
* important in prehistory or history.

Critorta Contlclaratlono
(Mark V in all the boxes that apply)

Property is:

A Owned by a religious institution or used for religious
pupoeee.

B removed from its original location.

C a birthplace or grave.

0 aoamelety.

E a reconstructed building, objject, or structure.

F a commemorative property.

O less than 90 years old or achieving signiflcance
wHNn foe past 50 years.

Areas of Significance 
(Enter categorise from instruebons.)
ARCHITECTURE

EDUCATION

Period of Significance 

1915-1918

Significant DatM 

1915-1916

1918

Significant Parson
(Compteie only if Criterion B is marked above.)

Cultural Affiliation

Architact/Builder
Coombs. Harry S. (Architect 1878-1939) 

Otto Nelson Company. Banoof. ME (Builder)

Period of Significance Oustifleation)
The period of significance Includes the date of constructioo of the building and the time it was in transilion from a partial 
elerr^tary and junior high school to 1918 when it became the first official junior high school in Auburn.

Criteria Coneiderstions (explanation, if necessary)
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StatMiMfit of Significanco Summary Paragraph (Provide a summary paragraph that includes level of significance and 
applicable criteria.)

CortstTucted in 1915-1916 in a residential neighborhood in Auburn, Maine, the Webster Grammar School is eligibie for 
individual listing on the National Register of Historic Places at the local level under Criterion A for Education as one of the 
first junior high school to be organized and put into operation in New England as a result of changes in educational 
philosophy in the early twentieth century Two years after opening, the school vras officially made the junior high school 
and funcbor>ed as such until 1981 when it became an intermediate school for fourth, fifth, and sixth grades. The period of 
significance from 1915-1918 includes the date of construction unbi the school became the officiat junior high. Webster 
Gramnwr School is also slgniTicant under Criterion C, Architecture, for embodying distinctive characteristics of an 
educational institution that exemplify the transition occurring in the curriculum and structure of public education at the time. 
The Webstar Grammar School is also a significant example of early 20** century Colonial Revival school design by wed 
known Maine architect Harry S Coombs.

Narrative Statament of Significance (Provide at least oite paragraph for each area of significance.)

CrtteftonA: Education

Webster Grammar School is significant under Criterion A for Education because it is one of the first junior high schools in 
New England. The form of the building represents the transition in the educational system of Maine in the early twentieth 
century from a curriculum based on Classical studies to one emphasizing Manual Arts and practical subjects. Influenced 
by a national movement in educational philosophy in the 1919-20s, the form and use of the school reflects the tumult of a 
city grappling with rapid growth in student enrolln>ent arid adjustments to the quality and stnx:ture of pubfic education. 
Constructed in 1915-16, the period of significance of the building continues in the first few years of transition until the 
school became the official junior high school of Auburn in 1918.

At the end of the nineteenth century, the quality of public education came in to question as Charles EFiot, President of 
Harvard University from 1869 to 1909, argued in a speech to the Nationai Education Association (NEA) that freshman in 
college were inad^uately prepared in their public schooling years, beginning a push for the teaching of academic subjects 
in later elementary grades.^ It was common for students not planning on going to college to drop out of school after eighth 
grade and begin work. The aim of junior high schools was to strengthen the curriculum and education making it more 
suitable for an adolesoent age group, accommodate individual interests and abilities to encourage students to remain in 
school longer before leaving to begin work, and utilize teachers specialty trained to work with that age group. As this 
change in educational phitosophy was becoming more widely accepted, there vras still no exact prescription of what 
constituted a 'junior high school' in physical design as well as educational pedagogy. Particularty common in the earfiest 
junior highs, the structure of the schools varied greatly as each experimented with the change at various levels. The first 
junior high school (»ened in CaHfomia in 1910. Within the next decade, over 800 junior high schools were established 
across the country.’

In the years from 1907-1915, the Maine State Legislature passed multiple bills and resolutions related to educational 
requiremenis of schools including regulation of the number of days of schooling per year, curricula to be taught 
qualifications for teachers and superintendents, and requirements to receive funding.^ In the 1915-16 Annual Report of 
the Board of Education to the city of Auburn, it is stated that “the aim and effort of the present Board [is] to maintain the 
standard of our schools as second to none in the State. That we have been successful, in part at least is shown by the 
fact that destrabte temHies are constantty moving here in order to enjoy the advantages of our schools.'

The quality of the educational system in Auburn drew tuition students, especially to the high school, from twenty nearby 
ctties and towns. In 1914, sdiool attendance had increased 98% over the previous five years.’ The shoe manufocturing 
irKfustiy in Auburn was at its height in the early twentieth century. With twelve factories. Auburn was the fifth largest shoe 
production center in the United States in 1922, and employed approximately 8,000 people. As the population increased, 
school enrollment also increased and quality of education became even more imfxirtanl Like many schools at the time, 
increased enrollment and changes to curriculum caused overcrowded conditions in the classrooms and other tedlities.
The first Webster Grammar School, built in 1874 at the comer of Spring and School Streets, was no exception, and other

’ P. Gayle Andrews. 'Junior High School,' Encyclopedia of Children and Childhood in History and Society, available online at 
hNp'7AMww.faqs.orglchildhood/1n-KerJunior-High-School.html.

’ Thomas H. Briggs, The Junior High School (Boston: Houghton Mifflin, 1920), 37.
* 'Increase in Children of School Age.' Lewiston Evening Journal. 7 April 1915
* 1916 'Report of the Board of Education,* 81-82.
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issues such as poor lighting and ventilation and increased noise due to the proximity of the building to the railroad lines, 
initiated the need for a new school. After transferring Webster School s fifth grade to three different elementary schools in 
the area, continued increased enrollment at all locations proved that a long-term solution was needed.*

John Hooper was the principal of Webster School from 1908 to 1950 and was a leader in the development of junior high 
schools in New England. The traditional grade system of Maine and other areas of New England included nine grades in 
elennentary plus four in high school for a total of thirteen grades. Prinopal Hooper, instigated the change in the system to 
that typical of the mid-Atlantic region which comprised a total of twelve grades.' Other schools in New England were also 
making the change to one less grade. Reducing the number of grades was also considered as one means of easing 
overcrowded classrooms. Rather than switch to the 6-3-3 plan typical of Mid-Atlantic states. Auburn adapted the plan to 
suit the needs of the community and the existing school facilities. Courses were revised to overcome the break between 
the grammar and high schools. Special consideration was given to students who were prone to drop out of school at a 
young age by introducirig practical and vocationaJ subjects ^ier in the curriculum to encourage students to stay in school 
as long as possibie.* Principal Hooper stated that, ‘individuality of the child must be taken into account in the training.’* 
Auburn instituted a 7-5 program (7 elementary, 2 junior high and 3 high school grades) and moved the ninth grade to 
Webster School rather than enlarging the existing Edward Little High School. Webster School officially became the junior 
high two years after opening in 1916

The layout of the new Webster Grammar School is significant because it reflects some of these changes but also 
nrtaintains many features typical of earlier educational institutions. Like many other early junior high schools across the 
country, the development of Webster Grammar School occurred during a time of rapid growth in school attendance and 
philos^ical demand for more varied and vocational subjects to better prepare students for jobs after leaving school. The 
physical form of the school represents the transitkxi to a junior high system because of the carry-over of unique fkx>r plan 
relationships and programmatic uses of the building from earlier school models. Particularly evident on the basement level 
was the segregation of sexes for activities and specific subjects. Newspaper articles describe the way in which boys and 
girls were not allowed to fraternize in the earlier Webster Grammar school building on Spring Street Manual Arts training 
was located in the basement with classrooms for domestic sdence, wood working, and a machine room. The original 
plans for Webster Grammar School show the basement level segregated by gender for physical and vocational activities. 
Each side had a gymnasium, locker rooms, toilets, arxi playrooms. The southeast side was dedicated to girls and the 
northwest side to boys. The gender divide was further expressed by the location of the wood and machine shop on the 
boys' side as manual arts training to prepare male students for work in factories or mills. The domestic science room was 
located on the girls' side and provided practical training for girls to become skilled housekeepers. The upper floors do not 
appear to represent gender segregated spaces. However, when the building was completed, the first floor was originally 
dedicated to element grades and the second floor to junior high grades, a system typical of earfier schools in Maine.

Webster School also began offering night classes for Manual and Domestic Arts subjects in 1916.** The Domestic Arts 
courses were relatively new to the program and reflected the progressive spirit of the school system at the time." Music 
programs were not as common among public schools at the time, and a 1915 newspaper artk^ stated a summer school 
course was to be offered by the State superintendent of schools providing regular grade teachers the ability to teach music 
in more public schools. Music instruction at Webster School was carried out in the auditorium

By 1956, enrollment at Webster School was 665 students. Tuition students from other districts and counties were no 
longer accepted because of the high number of local students. At times, enrollment at Webster School was more than 
700.** By 1981, the Auburn School Department enrolled a total of 4,927 students. Shifting away from the 7-5 structure, a 
new middle school fbr seventh and eighth grades opened in 1981. Webster School became an intermediate school for 
fourth, fifth and sixth grade students The school remained In operation until 2006

* 1914 *Repo(t of the Board of Education.* 142-143. School Reports and newspaper articles noted the poor light quaMy of the 
school and the naoasaity to cfcMe early on ‘dark days ’ On March 7,1914. an article in the Lewfstorr Satuntay Journal MarMingly 
noted that ‘some of the girts who are not strong in health at this age. find the dimb of three long flights of stairs a serious 
handicap...soma pupils have been obliged to lose schooling because of this very condition.’

^ The 6-3-3 system had six grades in the elementary, three in junior high, and three in high school.
* Manual Training and Domestic Sdence courses were added to the curriculum in 1908. *The Webster Grammar School- A Model 

School of Maine,’ Lewiston Evening Joumai, 3 February 1917.
' *The Webster Grammar School- A Model School of Maine,’ Lewiston Joumai. 3 February 1917.
** 1916-1917 ‘Report of the Board of Education,’ 126.
** The Webster Orammw School- A Model School of Maine,’ Lewiston Joumai. 3 February 1917.
** *Webster School Civics Students Learn by Compiling Its History,’ Lewiston Joumai, 15 February 1958.
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Criterion C: Architecture

The Wetoter School is eligible for listing under Criterion C at the local level as a building that represents and embodies a 
particular, transitional period in school construction in Maine. The design and detail of the building reflects the changes to 
education curriculum in Maine in the early twentieth century. Designed by local architect Harry S. Coombs, Webster 
Grammar School is a Colonial Revival Style school that retains integrity of location, design, setting, material, workmanship, 
feeling and association.

The design of Webster Grammar School is significant because it bridges the transition in educational philosophy while also 
meeting the practical needs of the community relating to increased student enrollment and adequacy of facilities Auburn 
experienced overcrowded corKjitions in aH schools in the early twentieth century. For a period of several years, grade 
levels and teachers were shuffled to various schools to alleviate crowded classroom conditions before the construction of 
a new school was achieved. When first constructed, the grammar school contained grades five, six, and seven on the first 
floor and junior high grades eight and nine on the secorrd floor. After two years, when grades were consolidated to form 
the junior high school, the school was exclusively used for junior high students in the eighth and ninth grades.

Representative of more traditional form and structure of schools, the layout of the classrooms is not innovative, but the 
incorporation of manual arts training with the gender-divided spaces of the basement level are a unique resolution to 
integrating new subjects while following the earlier structure of school organization. At the former Webster Grammar 
School, boys and girls were strictly separated. The playground was split and boys used a door to enter and exit that was 
on another side of the building from the entrance used by the girls. It was not considered proper etiquette for boys and 
girls to mingle.'’ This attitude carried over to the design of the new school which had separate gymnasium, playroom, 
toilets, and locker room for boys and girls located on opposite sides of the building on the basement level. Boys and girts 
were integrated in the classrooms except for the vocational subjects. Manual Arts training was located in the basement 
and followad the same division of the other spaces. Wood working and the machtoe shop was located on the boy's side 
and the domestic science room which taught cooking, sewing, and housekeeping was located on the girl’s side. It is 
unknown at what time these areas were desegregated by gender and opened up to other functions.

Since it is one of the earliest junior high schools in the New England, the architecture of Webstar Grammar School is a 
significant example of the transitional and even experimental period of junior high devetopment, dearly illustrating that 
Auburn was attempting to provide quality public education by instituting progressive educational philosophies while 
adapting them to meet the needs of the community.

The Webster Grammar School, which served the students of Auburn for ninety years until its closure in 2006, Is also a 
hallmark in the statewide architectural legacy of the Coombs family and of early 20" century school building in the Colonial 
Revival style. Bom October 27,1878, Harry S. Coombs was the son of Lewiston architect George M. Coombs and 
grandson of John Coombs, a shipbuilder in Brunswick. After training under his tather and dissolving a partnership with his 
brother, Coombs began his own firm in 1913 and designed multiple schools throughout the state of Maine. Coombs 
attended Lewiston public elementary and high schools and graduated from Nichols Latin School in Lewiston in 1697. He 
attended Bowdoln CoMege arid graduated in the class of 1901 with a Bachelor of Arts degree. Harry immediately jolnsd his 
tether's firm of Coombs & Gibbs as a draftsman, appearing on the firm’s letterhead as early as 1905. However, a 
photograph dated 1894 of George M. Coombs' architectural atelier, showing George, young Harry working at a drafting 
table, and George’s future partners Eugene J Gibbs and Harry C. Wilkinson, shows that Harry had been workirrg for his 
tether welt before he attended Bowdoin College

The Arm of Coombs, Gibbs & Wilkinson lasted four years, from 1896-1900, during which time it worked on over 100 
projects including new construction and alterations to private residerrces, churches, public and commercial buildings 
thr^hout the state. After WHkinson departed for a job in Washington D C. in 1900, the firm of Coombs & Gibbs 
continued working successfully across the state into 1910, following the death of George M. Coombs in 1909. Folowing 
Eugene Gibbs' departure from the firm in 1910, Harry and his older brother Fred (who had joined Coombs & Gibbs in 
1908) continued in partnership as Coombs Brothers unbi Harry went out on his own in 1913.

One of Ihe first projects Harry S. Coombs completed once on his own was the Chamberlain primary school In Auburn. 
Completed in 1914 in the Collegiate Gothic style, this small school building opened its doors just one year after Freeman 
Funk & Wilcox's Waterville High School 1909-1913, also in the Collegiate Gothic style. A red brick building with 
contrasting fight colored stone trim, the Chamberlain School had classroom windows set in groups much like the groups of 
three, four, and five at the Waterville High School. However, all of the classroom windows at Chamberlain were set in
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groups of five, a design feature shared by Coombs' later Colonial Revival Webster Grammar School (191&-1916), Sanford 
High School (1916), arvd Stearns High School in Millinocket (1922-1924). Of these three buildings, aN designed in the 
Colonial Revival style with a five-part neo-classical front fag^e composition, indudityg center entrar>ce pavilion and 
projectiryg perpendicular end wings, the Webster School falls squarely in the middle in terms of size and level of 
ornamental detailing. Further similarities include the basic tri-partite 2 Vi story vertical composition of the buildings with 
raised basement capped with cast stone water table, two floors of classrooms topped with a nicely detailed and well 
proportioned comice and finished with a brick parapet Steams High School shared the same separation of male and 
female students for physical activities and manual arts training courses on the basement level.

Developmental history/additlonal historic context information (if appropriate)

In 1968 the Auburn History Committee published a book entitled Auburn - 100 Years a Ofy: A Study in ConmunHy 
Growth, in which the following observation was made, "It can be truly stated that Auburn made shoes, but shoes made 
Auburn.' In the 1830s North Auburn and West Auburn were on the stagecoach route from Portland to Farmington which 
was the primary route of mail and commercial transportation. They also had water power from the UtUe Androscoggin 
River and its tributaries, and as a result these villages, not Auburn - which was on the wrong side of the Androscoggin 
River to harness that waterway for industrial power, developed into burgeoning centers with grist and saw mills, furniture 
factories, metal work shops, stores, schools, churches, and social meeting places. West Auburn was the location of the 
first organized shoe teclory in the state, the Minot Shoe Company in 1836. When Auburn became a town in 1842 it 
er^compassed these two outlying communities and had a total of fifteen school districts. By 1854 it had sixteen districts 
ar>d the school population was changing from agricultural to a community where most of the boys attending school were 
shoemakers. The center of the shoe making industry shifted in 1849 when the railroad came to Auburn and by the close 
of the Civil War in 1865, Auburn shoe factories had doubled their production of boots and shoes from the preceding four 
years. In the years between 1865 and 1900 production increased from 6,000 pairs of boots and shoes a year to 
6,000,000. In the first two decades of the 20^ century Auburn became the ‘White Shoe City of the World* with the 
CushmaivHollis Com|»ny and Dingley-Foss Shoe Company, who made white canvas comfort and athletic shoes sold 
nationally and interrutionally. Auburn - 100 Years a City notes, ‘At the height of the white shoe run, in 1917, Cushman- 
Hollis was employing 2,100 persons with a daily output of 26,000 pairs ' By 1922 Auburn was the fifth largest shoe 
production oervter in the United States. With 12 factories employing about 8,000 persons, Auburn's production rate was 
70,000 pairs of shoes a day. Despite increasing competition natiortally, the Great Depression and tabor difficulties in the 
1930s, the shoe manufacturing industry remained a strong economic force in Auburn until the last quarter of the 20" 
century.

When Auburn became a city in 1869 it had twenty-five school districts and twenty-eight school buildings, only ten of which 
were deemed to be in suitable condition. In 1874 the old Spring Street Grammar School building was replaced with a new 
brick structure. Between 1890 and 1895, School Superintendent William Stetson renamed the Auburn schools to honor 
tedious men of state and nation, and the Spring Street Grammar School became Webster Grammar School.

Inspired by Theodore Roosevelt's Progressive Party, Auburn’s city election of 1913 brought into city government a number 
of new dty officials, including mayor Ahrin W. Fowies. Under this administration, local architect Harry S. Coombs was 
hired to design the new Chamberlain Primary School, which was constructed on High Street The land for a ‘modem, new 
Webster Grammar SchooP was also procured at this time. Henry R. Porter, a successful lumber businessman, took office 
of Mayor in 1915. His administration also retained the architectural services of Harry S. (Coombs, a bond issue was 
floated, and construction was started on the new Webster Grammar School on Hampshire Street Constructed by Otto 
Nelson Company of Bangor. Maine, the new school cost $92,000.'’ The following year the council increased the city's 20- 
mill tax rate to 22Vi and consequently was able to make road improvements and complete the constnjction and equipping 
of the new grammar school. The Lewiston Evening Journal of September 11,1915 reported, ‘For the first time since the 
opening of the grammar building on Spring Street the old bell on the former Webster grammar school was silent Monday 
morning and a new tone was struck by the call from Hampshire Street, where a modern building has been erected.' The 
new school had 800 registered students and was built to accommodate both junior high and upper grade grammar school 
children with seven rooms devoted to the junior high (eighth and ninth grades) and thirteen to the elementary grades (fifth, 
sixth, and seventh grades). The 1919 Biographical History of Maine entry for Harry S. Coombs notes 'many of the largest 
and handsomest buildings in Lewiston have been erected from his plans,. . . In the neighboring city of Auburn, he has

” Leonard C. Monahan, Principal. ‘The George W. Steams High School,* The Northern, 13-15
'NelMni 

on the protect
ireraly underestimated the cost of the new building and. as a resuK, went out of business on account of the money lost
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erected among others the handsome building of the Webster Grammar School, which is conceded to be one of the finest 
schools in the State of Maine.*

Former President Taft presented a speech on the League of Nations from the front steps of Webster School on May 23. 
1919. Originally intended to take place in the 1100-seat auditorium, the large audience turn-out forced an impromptu 
change of venue
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Prevloue documentation on file (NPS):
X pfeMminary determination of Individual listing (36 CFR 67 has been 

requested)
previously Hated in the Nationel Register

___ previously determined eligible by the National Rsgialar
designated a National Historic Landmark 

.recorded by HMortc American Buddings Survey •_

.recorded by Historic American Engineering Record «. 
recordad by Historic American Landscape Survey 9

Primary location of additional data:
___  Slate Hnlonc Preservation Offlce

___ Other Slate agency
___ Federal agency
___ Local government
___ University

X Other
Nftnw of fSDOsitOfY Androsooooln Hisloficfll SocMv 

Htalne Hlatorical SoctsM

Historic Resources Survey Number (if assigned):.

10. Geographical Data

Acreage of Property 1.4
(Do not indudo prsviouely Nsled resource acreage.)

UTM References
(Place addMIonal UTM references on a oonlinualion sheet .)

1 19 401401 4883631
Easting Northing Zone Easting Northing

Zone Easting Northing Zone Easting Northing

VertMl Boundary Description (Describe the boundaries of the property)
The subject prop^ is described by the City of Auburn's Tax Map # 250, lot # 354.

Boundary Justification (Explain why the boundaries were selected.)
This is the current legal description of the property as assigned by the City of Auburn. This is very likely the historic 
boundary of the property as wen because the block is bounded by streets on aM sides and a newspaper articie from 1914 
mentions the lot of the property as being ‘about an acre"

11. Form Prepared By

name/title Amy Cole Ives and Melanie Smith
organization Sutherland Conservation & Consulting date 6rt)8/2010
street & number 295 Water Street, Suite 209 telephone 207-242-2460

dtyortown Augusta state Maine zip code 04330

e-mail melaniesmithiSIsutheflandcc net
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Additional Documentation
Submit the folkjwing items with the completed form;

• Mape; A USGS map (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicafing the property's iocafion.

A Sketch map for historic districte and properties having lai^e acreage or numerous resources Key ail 
photographs to this map.

a Continuation Sheets

a Additional items; (Check with the SHPO or FPO for any additional items.)

Photographs:
Submit dear and descriptive photographs. The size of each image must be 1600x1200 pixels at 300 ppi (pixels per inch) 
or larger. Key all photographs to the sketch map.

Name of Property: Webster Grammar School

City or Vicinity: Auburn

County: Androscoggin State: Maine

Photographer Melanie Smith, Sutherland Conservation & Consulting 

Date Photographed: 4/13/10 

Description of Photograph(s) and number

1 of 6. Entrance pavilion at front fagade.

2 of 6. View looking east from comer of Hampshire and Willow Streets.

3 of 6. Side elevation focing parking lot

4 of 6. Rear elevation.

5 of 6. View from stage looking toward balcony and rear of auditorium.

6 of 6. View from balcony looking toward stage in auditorium.

Property Owner
(Complite trie ilam at Itw raquaat oTthe SHPO or FPO.)

name
street & number 

city or town

telephone

state zip code

Papanvotk RaducOon Act Statamant: Thia information is twing cotlactod for applications to the National Ragistar of Hisloric Piacaa to nominata 
propertiaa for Hating or dalannino aiglMIty for Hating, to list proparties, and to anwnd enating katinge Responaa to this request • required to obtain a 
benefit in accontonoa «Mlh ttw National Histone Praaanratlon Act. as amended (16 U S.C 460 at saq ).
Eatlmatad Burden Statarnent Public reporting bunlan for tfiis form is asbrnated to average 18 hours per response nduding time for reviewing 
instntetions, gathering and mairrtafoing data, and compieting and reviewing the fonn. Direct comments regarding this burden eetlmale or any aspect oT 
dlls form to the Office of Planning and Performance Menagement U S Dept of the Interior. 1S49 C Street. NW. Washinglon. DC
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Keeper of the National Register 
National Park Service 2280 
National Register of Historic Places 
1201 "I" (Eye) Street, NW, 
Washington D.C. 20005

To Whom It May Concern:

Enclosed please find tW'O (2) new National Register nominations for a property located in 
the State of Maine:

Webster Grammar School, Androscoggin County 
Waterville High School, Kennebec County

Please note, the accompanying photographs were developed from film, thus there is no 
CD for these properties.

If you have any questions relating to these nomination, please do not hesitate to contact 
me at (207) 787-2132 x 2.

Sincerely,

Christ! A. Mitchell 
Architectural Historian

Enc.

PHONE: (207) 2S7-2132 liiON »:rnn ii» ivni FAX: (207) 287-2335
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September 30, 2010

Notice to file:

This properly has been automatically listed in the National Register of Historic Places. 
This is due to the fact that the publication of our Federal Register Notice: 'National 
Register of Historic Places: Pending Nominations and Other Actions" was delayed 
beyond our control to the point where the mandated 15 day public comment period 
ended after our required 45 day time frame to act on the nomination. If the 45*^ day falls 

on a weekend or Federal holiday, the property will be automatically listed the next 
business day. The nomination is technically adequate and meets the National Register 
criteria for evaluation, and thus, automatically listed in the National Register of Historic 
Places.

Edson Beall 
Historian
National Register of Historic Places 
Phone: 202-354-2255 
E-mail: Edson_Beall@nps.gov 
Web: www.nps.gov/history/nr


